Public Document Pack



Nottingham City Council Outbreak Control Engagement Board

Date: Tuesday, 28 September 2021

Time: 10.00 am

Place: To be held remotely via Zoom - meeting participants will be given access

details. The public part of the meeting will be livestreamed on the Council's

Youtube channel - https://www.youtube.com/user/NottCityCouncil

Board Members are requested to attend the above meeting

Governance Officer: Emma Powley Direct Dial: 0115 8765431

1	Apo	logi	es f	or a	bse	nce
•	APU	vgi		oı u	200	100

- 2 Declarations of interest Items 4-9
- 3 Public Minutes 13 August 2021

3 - 10

- 4 Nottingham's Local Outbreak Management Plan Update
- 5 Board Member Updates
 - Environmental Health
 - NHS
- 6 Local COVID-19 Vaccination Plan Update
- 7 Local Symptomatic Testing Strategy
- 8 Educational Settings Update
- 9 Exclusion of the public
- 10 Declarations of interest Item 11-14
- 11 Confidential Minutes 13 August 2021

11 - 12

- 12 Local Symptomatic Testing Strategy
- 13 Educational Settings Update

14 Local COVID-19 Vaccination Plan Update

If you need any advice on declaring an interest in any item on the agenda, please contact the Governance Officer shown above, if possible before the day of the meeting

Nottingham City Council

Outbreak Control Engagement Board

Minutes of the meeting held at Remote - To be held remotely via Zoom - https://www.youtube.com/user/NottCityCouncil on 13 August 2021 from 11.32am - 13.12

Membership

Present
Councillor Neghat Khan
Councillor Sally Longford (Chair)
Councillor Adele Williams

Absent

Steven Cooper

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:

Matthew Daft, Environmental Health Officer Lucy Hubber, Director of Public Health Amanda Sullivan, Nottingham and Nottinghamshire CCG Sarah Carter, Nottingham and Nottinghamshire CCG Nick Lee, Director of Education Karen Kilner, Chair of Governors - Henry Whipple School Emma Powley, Governance Officer NCC

272 Apologies

Steven Cooper - Assistant Chief Constable – Nottinghamshire Police

273 Declarations of interest for agenda items 3-7

None

274 Public Minutes - 23 July 2021

The minutes of the meeting held on the 23 July 2021 were agreed as a true record.

275 Nottingham's Local Outbreak Management Plan Update

Lucy Hubber, Director of Public Health - Nottingham City Council, gave an update on Nottingham's Outbreak Control Plan, highlighting the following information:

- a) Whilst the position with regards to the number of people with Covid in Nottingham was stabilising, it was disappointing that there had not been a continued decline in the number of cases.
- b) In last week, there has been a stabilisation of case rates in Nottingham City but figures indicate that there has been an uplift in the England case rates and Nottingham has largely followed the national trend and case rates in Nottingham remained relatively high. As such it was important for people to remember the message to wash hands, cover faces and get tested.

- c) Asymptomatic testing was still encouraged and there were a number of sites where people could collect a Lateral Flow Test (LFT). There is slight move to Local Authorities being the lead for more community targeted testing distribution.
- d) Changes to the self-isolation rules as a Covid close contact were highlighted:
 - New self-isolation rules as a Covid close contact will change for those who are double vaccinated and those under 18, as long as they don't have any symptoms
 - NHS Test & Trace will be in contact to advise people take a PCR test
 - Those who are 'double jabbed' remain at risk of being infected and are advised to wear a face covering in enclosed spaces and limit contact with others, especially those who are clinically extremely vulnerable
 - Those not fully vaccinated will be required to isolate if they are a contact.
- e) However, some workplaces will be offering daily contact testing, meaning someone can go to their workplace in some situations. Those participating in this, will need to self-isolate when at home.

The roll-out of the daily contact testing is national programme and notification of any work places implementing the daily testing programme will be reported to the Director of Public Health, of which there are currently none in Nottingham.

The Board noted that the information from Government on this was confusing that and expressed their disappointment that the guidance was not clearer; as previously seen over the course of the pandemic, the clearer the instructions the more compliant people were and the confusion these changes may bring is concerning. It was noted that there was an indication that there would be a National Testing Strategy available in Autumn 2021 but this had yet to be confirmed.

276 Board Member Updates

Amanda Sullivan, Nottingham and Nottinghamshire CCG updated the Board and highlighted the following:

a) The levels of people in hospital with Covid was rising. There had been some fluctuations but there was a steady state of admissions to hospital for people with Covid. As a result, all services were being put under significant pressures, not exclusively relating to Covid but people were coming presenting with various other non-Covid issues. This affected GPs, Surgeries and Ambulance Services as well as community and social services.

- b) 89 people admitted to hospital in the 7 days in run up to the 8 August 2021 compared to 92 the previous week. 131 people had been admitted with Covid week ending the 19 August, with 22 of those admitted requiring ventilation and 7 deaths in the week. Whilst there was a low level number of people dying with Covid the pandemic remained very much evident.
- c) The number of people who are becoming seriously ill and admitted to hospital had decreased since the first wave. Approximately 60% of those admitted to hospital had not received any vaccinations and 10% of those having only received one dose of the vaccination. Approximately 95% of Covid patients in Intensive Treatment Unit had not received any vaccination and it was evident that the vaccinations both reduced the changes of contracting the illness but also significantly reduced the severity of it.
- d) At the beginning of the pandemic, the demographics were very different and the majority of patients and those dying from Covid were the elderly. Since the vast majority of that age group had now been double vaccinated, the average age of those currently being admitted were unvaccinated people in their 30's and 40's
- e) Targeted communications was underway to continue to emphasise the importance of getting double vaccinated, with particular emphases being placed on getting the message to the younger generations.
- f) Additional work was being undertaken to also encourage pregnant women to have the vaccinations as there had been increased evidence that they were safe for birthing women. There was a joined up approach to getting the message across and the correct information was being provided to health care workers and mid-wives to ensure a consistent approach. It was noted that evidence suggested that pregnant women were more susceptible to the Delta variant of Covid and thus the need to educate pregnant women on their vaccination options was essential. Due to the length of the pandemic, it was reported that real time factual information was available to pregnant women and to health care workers/those coming into contact with pregnant women.

The Chair thanked Amanda for her update.

Matthew Daft - Environmental Health Officer, updated the Board and highlighted the following information:

- a) Since the withdrawal of the Covid regulations, Environmental Health had no enforceable powers to intervene on enforcement matters. However, there was a continued commitment to engage and influence where possible.
- b) The Environmental Health Team would align alongside the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) in dealing with businesses and controlling risks in the work place. There will be a focus on work activity when the risk of transmission is above normal rates
- c) As Health and Safety regulators, assistance had been given to various premises and businesses carrying out their risk assessments. Many

businesses continued to follow the guidance on 'Keeping Workplaces Safe' and information was being given in steps that could prevent COVID-19 spreading in their workplace. This included cleaning, handwashing, hygiene as well as emphasising the importance of good ventilation.

- d) Where the Environmental Health Team had worked with businesses where there had been either an outbreak investigation or protective intervention, the support they had offered had been welcomed and on the whole businesses had been cooperative.
- e) With the Government's plan to require proof of vaccinations at large venues including nightclubs and large sporting venues, advice would be given to these premises about the 'Covid status certification'. The Team would soon be undertaking an Inspection project of nightclubs and would provide them with information and advice with the 'Covid status certificates'. Advice would also be given about the importance of ventilation in helping reduce the risk of spreading coronavirus.

277 Local COVID-19 Vaccination Plan Update

Sarah Carter gave an update on the Local Covid vaccination plan and highlighted the following information:

- a) 16-17 year olds are now being offered vaccinations and these sites are operational from 13 August 2021 for walk- ins; there are 4 in total across the city, 2 at hospital hubs and 2 at local vaccination sites.
- b) Various communications team were working together to promote this in order to get as many 16 & 17 yr olds vaccinated as possible
- c) Work was ongoing in targeting certain areas and consideration was given to other behavioural insights to do more targeted work. With regards to pregnant women, a vaccination clinic in QMC maternity department had been trialled and take up was higher than expected. Work continued to be carried out with Community Midwives to ensure they too were able to inform women within the communities.
- d) With those individuals who have concerns about the vaccine clinicians and GPs are on site to answer any questions; you are not then obliged to have the test there are then but it was hoped that this may allay fear or any misinformation.
- e) Many people admitted to hospital have either only had 1 jab or none. By having 2 doses of the vaccines, protection against the delta variant was increased by up to 2.5 times.
- f) Planning was well underway for the roll-out of vaccination boosters, working with GP's, public health colleagues and NHS providers which will mean those who had 2 vaccinations after 6 months they will get a further booster

vaccination. There was also an expectation that there would be a significant increase in sites delivering the vaccine.

The Board were encouraged by the flexible approach that had been adapted in the vaccination of young people, specifically those aged 16 and 17. It had been necessary for a swift and adaptable approach to be utilised in order to encourage as many your people as possible to get vaccinated. Consideration would be given the plausibility of pop up sites, offering Covid vaccinations at Further Education at the start of the new term.

278 Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on the local Education system

Lucy Hubber, Director of Public Health, gave an update of the impact of Covid on the local education system. The following information was highlighted:

- a) She had been very impressed by close working with schools, education and Public Health; the partnership working had been collaborative and meant that they had been able to act swiftly and effectively when outbreaks had been reported.
- b) Research had shown that schools had remained places of very low transmission rates when compared with the general population. This has been in part due to the swift action taken by schools and their effective outbreak management when cases had been reported.
- c) A number of changes would be in place for the start of the new term in September; from the 18 July 2021, close contacts identified by NHS track and trace and education settings will no longer be expected to undertake contact tracing. There was a peak in summer term and at the highest point the number of children and young people self-isolating was almost 3000 not attending education due to contact tracing. There was a far greater number of children being asked to isolate due to contact tracing compared to the actual number of cases of Covid reported.
- d) Where appropriate, should there be an outbreak, it may be necessary to reintroduce social distancing and request students wear face masks, but this will be undertaken on a much more individual outbreak response.
- e) All secondary school children will be required to take the 2 tests and home testing will be a significant feature of management control. There is an expectation that there will be a rise in other respiratory illness such as flu and plans for quite a large resurgence were underway with the flu vaccination being extended to more children this year

Nick Lee – Director of Education, gave an update and highlighted the following information:

- a) As a general overview the relationship between NCC and Public Health has been extremely beneficial and the expertise and recovery issues have been very valuable.
- b) 8 different phases were identified in the response to Covid regarding schools each phase needed to be risk assessed and it had been essential for flexibility in adapting to changing environments of learning. Tributes were payed to the staff, not just the teachers but the whole school support staff and the low transmission rate was testament to the work that has been done.
- c) Work had been ongoing with SEND children who make up 15% of students and any additional supported needed had been considered. There had been regular communication to ensure issues identified were managed and a huge range of work had been completed around re-aligning relationships around the Department for Education
- d) There had been a very large focus around free school meals for those entitled. There were considerable difficulties initially but managed and ensured that children and families were supported. Further to this, a holiday programme was introduced to enable children from low incomes or those suffering from food poverty to access to free school meals.
- e) There had been a roll out of 'Children's Voice' which was gave us information about the experiences, issues and concerns that children had about returning to school to help us focus especially on certain areas such as mental health and stress caused by the pandemic.
- f) There was some concerns about the new term and children being 'school ready'. Some children had not accessed there early years education as early as they could have done and as such, there may be a delay in them catching up
- g) As a result of Covid, it was expected that some children's home situation may also have changed. Their families may have experienced social and/or economic challenges and furthermore behavioural challenges may have displayed following movements moved from in school teaching to home education due to the various lockdowns.
- h) There still remained some anxiety about Covid and home education. The Council had continued to support children who may be susceptible to county lines or child sexual exploitation during lockdown.
- In preparation for the new term, new Risk Assessments had been designed and would be implemented in preparation for the return to schools in September.

Karen Kilner, Chair of Governors at Henry Whipple School (a Local Authority maintained School) explained that hers was one of the schools where a whole school testing programme had been implemented when there was a confirmed outbreak. The following information was highlighted:

Outbreak Control Engagement Board - 13.08.21

- a) Schools staff across the city had been fantastic and extremely cooperative. The Head Teacher at Henry Whipple had been concerned about the amount of communication going out to families, which could have been construed as an instruction. However, the Communications Team at Nottingham City Council had assisted and supported the school and took the pressure from the school staff. This demonstrated that Public Health, the Local Authorities and schools were working collaboratively.
- b) Initially there was an expectation that there may be some reluctance and take up of the testing. However, there was approximately 76% take up in school testing.
- c) During the testing week, there had been an extended school day so parents could come along out of hours to mitigate mass traffic and footfall around the school which received very positive feedback from parents
- d) A lot of the testing staff were able to speak several languages with families where English was not the first language. Going forward from September, new Guidelines had been issued from Central Government and Public Health, with risk assessments in place to ensure good practice continues as the norm

The Chair thanked all people presenting and to Karen for her role as Governor. The Board noted that it had been a very difficult period for young people in education and schools, parents, families and children were thanked for how they had responded to the pandemic. It was recognised that there was a need to continue to support young people, especially with regards to their mental health when there has been a massive dislocation in their education. The impact on school kids may have profound effects in future years and young people may have to pay price for learning loss, it was noted that the resilience of young people should be recognised and congratulated with their successes celebrated.

279 Exclusion of the public to move into the confidential section of the meeting

280 Declarations of interest for agenda items 10-13

See confidential minutes

281 Confidential Minutes - 23 July 2021

See confidential minutes

282 Situational round up

See confidential minutes

283 Local COVID-19 Vaccination Plan Update

See confidential minutes

284 Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on the local Education system

Outbreak Control Engagement Board - 13.08.21

See confidential minutes

Document is Restricted

